#### NO. 74115-2-1

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

Viewcrest Condominium Association,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

Brenda L. Robertson,

Defendant/Appellant.

#### OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT BRENDA L. ROBERTSON

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Veronica A. Galván

### David Tarshes, WSBA #13658 NORTHWEST JUSTICE PROJECT

401 Second Ave S. Suite 407 Seattle, Washington 98104 Phone: (206) 464-1519

Fax: (206) 682-7033

Email: <u>davidt@nwjustice.org</u> Attorney for Defendant/Appellant

Brenda L. Robertson

25

## **

#### INTRODUCTION

The Redemption Act, chapter 6.23 RCW, addresses the rights of parties during the redemption period that follows a judicial foreclosure sale. It provides, at RCW 6.23.110(4), that

In case of any homestead as defined in chapter 6.13 RCW and occupied for that purpose at the time of sale, the judgment debtor shall have the right to retain possession thereof during the period of redemption without accounting for issues or for value of occupation.

This protection has been in place since 1899.

This appeal presents the question whether defendant-appellant Brenda Robertson, whose home was sold at a foreclosure sale by her condominium's homeowner association, plaintiff-respondent Viewcrest Condominium Association ("Viewcrest"), is entitled to possession during the redemption period, as required by RCW 6.23.110(4). Viewcrest persuaded the superior court that Ms. Robertson was not entitled to possession after the sale.

Viewcrest relied on two statutory provisions that deal with a different issue, whether the sale itself may occur despite the presence of the homestead. The Homestead Act, at RCW 6.13.070, sets forth the general rule that a homestead is exempt from execution or forced sale. However, the Homestead Act and the Condominium Act provide

exceptions to this general rule. The Homestead Act, at RCW 6.13.080(6), provides that

The homestead exemption is not available against an execution or forced sale in satisfaction of judgments obtained . . . (6) On debts secured by a condominium's or homeowner association's lien.

The Condominium Act, at RCW 64.34.364(2), provides that "A lien under this section is not subject to the provisions of chapter 6.13 RCW."

Viewcrest persuaded the superior court that these two provisions do not merely create an exception to the general rule against forced sale of a homestead, but also create an exception to the homeowner's right to remain in possession during the redemption period. The superior court erred in determining that Ms. Robertson was not entitled to the right of possession mandated by RCW 6.23.110(4). It thereby deprived her of a right that has protected homeowners for more than a century and that the courts of this state have consistently held must be construed liberally in favor of the homeowner.

#### **ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR**

The superior court erred in entering its order of September 18, 2015, denying Ms. Robertson's motion for revision of a commissioner's order that issued a writ of assistance.

#### <u>Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error</u>

- 1. Whether the Redemption Act, at RCW 6.23.110(4), protects a homeowner's right to possession during the redemption period if the judgment creditor is a condominium association.
- 2. Whether the Homestead Act, at RCW 6.13.080(6), or the Condominium Act, at RCW 64.34.364(2), in addition to granting an exception to the rule of RCW 6.13.070 that a homestead is exempt from forced sale, also grants an exception to the rule of RCW 6.23.110(4) that a homeowner has the right to possession during the redemption period.
- 3. Whether a post-enactment declaration of a private attorney, purporting to describe legislative intent, is admissible.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Brenda Robertson purchased her home in Viewcrest Condominium in February 2007. CP 21. Thereafter, Ms. Robertson suffered financial difficulties, which were compounded by the effects of colon cancer and treatment for the cancer. The cancer and treatment prevented Ms.

Robertson from working and forced her to take early retirement. CP 22.

These issues made it difficult for Ms. Robertson to keep up with her homeowner association dues. CP 22. Viewcrest sued Ms. Robertson for the dues and obtained a judgment against her. CP 1, 98, 103. The

sheriff then sold Ms. Robertson's home. Viewcrest itself purchased the home for \$12,000. CP 118, 125, 145.

Viewcrest filed a motion for writ of assistance to remove Ms.

Robertson from her home. Ms. Robertson opposed the motion, relying on RCW 6.23.110(4). Viewcrest contended that the protection granted by RCW 6.23.110(4) does not apply if the debt that led to the sale is owed to a condominium association, relying on RCW 6.13.080(6) and RCW 64.34.364(2). Commissioner Carlos Velategui of King County Superior Court agreed with Viewcrest and issued the writ. CP 85, 149, 163.

Ms. Robertson filed a motion for revision. Judge Veronica Galván denied the motion, but, recognizing that her decision was inconsistent with that of other judges from the same court, encouraged Ms. Robertson to appeal. CP 88, 187; RP 30, 32-33.

Ms. Robertson appealed to this Court, CP 91, but was unable to afford a bond to stay the writ pending the appeal. Viewcrest enforced the writ, forcing Ms. Robertson to move out and incur living expenses she would not have incurred had the court granted her motion for revision.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### A. Introduction and Summary of Argument

The Homestead Act and the Redemption Act grant two forms of protection to homeowners: (1) the right to be free from execution or

forced sale of the homestead, per the Homestead Act at RCW 6.13.070, with certain exceptions; and (2) the right to live in the home during the redemption period that follows a forced sale, per the Redemption Act at RCW 6.23.110(4). *See* § B.1.

The Homestead Act, at RCW 6.13.080(6), and the Condominium Act, at RCW 64.34.364(2), grant an exception to the first of these two protections. Pursuant to those provisions, Viewcrest had the right to force the sale of Ms. Robertson's home. *See* § B.2.

Viewcrest, however, persuaded the superior court that the exceptions to the normal rule against execution and forced sale also create an exception to the normal rule protecting the homeowner's right to possession during the redemption period. Viewcrest's primary argument may be summarized as follows:

- 1. RCW 64.34.364(2) provides that "A lien under this section is not subject to the provisions of chapter 6.13 RCW."
- 2. The right to possession during the redemption period contained in RCW 6.23.110(4) protects "any homestead as defined in chapter 6.13 RCW."
- 3. Because condominium association liens are not subject to RCW 6.13, the homestead referenced in RCW 6.23.110(4) cannot be defined.
  - 4. If the homestead cannot be defined, it does not exist.

5. Therefore, the foreclosure sale purchaser, not the homestead owner, is entitled to possession during the redemption period.

The superior court's acceptance of this argument was erroneous for five reasons, which this brief addresses in turn.

First, the court erred in accepting the proposition that exempting a lien from the normal prohibition against forced sales also affects the homeowner's right to possession after the sale. A lien is an encumbrance that may entitle a lienholder to conduct a forced sale of property subject to the lien. It does not confer any right to possession to either the lienholder before the sale or the purchaser after the sale. *See* § C.1.

Second, the court erred in accepting the proposition that if (a) the Redemption Act utilizes a definition from the Homestead Act, and (b) the lien is not subject to the Homestead Act, then (c) the homestead cannot be defined and cannot exist. One statute may borrow a definition from a second statute, whether or not a party subject to the first statute is also subject to the second statute. *See* § C.2.

Third, the superior court's decision is contrary to two fundamental principles of statutory construction applicable to homestead statutes: (1) these statutes are to be liberally interpreted in favor of the homestead; and (2) any alleged legislative restriction on the homestead must be expressed clearly, directly, and specifically. *See* § C.3.

Fourth, Viewcrest sought to buttress its argument with a declaration from an attorney who said that he participated in drafting the Condominium Act, which declaration purported to describe the legislative intent behind RCW 64.34.364(2). The declaration is both inadmissible and inconsistent with the expressed legislative intent behind the section.

See § C.4.

Finally, Viewcrest invited the superior court to weigh the respective burdens borne by the homeowner losing her home and the other residents of the condominium. The legislature has already weighed the burdens and found in favor of the homeowner. See § C.5.

# B. Washington's Homestead Laws Protect the Rights of Homeowners.

Article XIX, Section 1 of the Washington Constitution provides: "The legislature shall protect by law from forced sale a certain portion of the homestead and other property of all heads of families." The Washington Supreme Court has described the purpose of protecting the homestead as:

to guard the improvident and unfortunate against penury and want, and to save the state and the community from the burden and disagreeable consequences that experience has shown to be a natural result of laws subjecting all of the property of debtors to the demands of their creditors.

Slyfield v. Willard, 43 Wash. 179, 182, 86 P. 392 (1906). Protection of the homestead is especially important in the wake of the recent foreclosure crisis. See generally Laws of 2011, ch., 58, § 1 ("The rate of home foreclosures continues to rise to unprecedented levels, both for prime and subprime loans, and a new wave of foreclosures has occurred due to rising unemployment, job loss, and higher adjustable loan payments.").

#### 1. The Homestead Laws Provide Two Types of Protection.

The legislature has protected the homestead in two ways that are relevant to this matter. First, the Homestead Act, at RCW 6.13.070, establishes an exemption from forced sale of a homestead. It provides, in pertinent part:

Except as provided in RCW 6.13.080, the homestead is exempt from attachment and from execution or forced sale for the debts of the owner up to the amount specified in RCW 6.13.030 [presently \$125,000].

Second, the Redemption Act, at RCW 6.23.110(4), addresses the right to possession during the eight- or twelve-month redemption period that follows an execution or forced sale. It provides:

In case of any homestead as defined in chapter 6.13 RCW and occupied for that purpose at the time of the sale, the judgment debtor shall have the right to retain possession thereof during the period of redemption without accounting for issues or for value of occupation.

The two statutes address the rights of the homeowner against two different opponents at two different points in time. Prior to execution and forced sale, the rights of the creditor and the homeowner are governed by RCW 6.13.070 and RCW 6.13.080. After execution and forced sale, the rights of the foreclosure sale purchaser and homeowner are governed by RCW 6.23.110. *See First Nat'l Bank of Everett v. Tiffany*, 40 Wn.2d 193, 197, 242 P.2d 169 (1952) (discussing former provisions now re-codified as RCW 6.13.070, 6.13.080, and 6.23.110); CP 55 (chart, reproduced at App. A).

2. RCW 6.13.080(6) and RCW 64.34.364 Permit Execution and Forced Sale of the Homestead by a Condominium Association.

The Homestead Act, at RCW 6.13.080(6), and the Condominium Act, at RCW 64.34.364, provide a limited exception to the rule of RCW 6.13.070 that a homestead is "exempt from attachment and from execution or forced sale." RCW 6.13.080 provides, in pertinent part:

The homestead exemption is not available against an execution or forced sale in satisfaction of judgments obtained: . . . (6) On debts secured by a condominium's or homeowner association's lien.

RCW 64.34.364(2) provides, in pertinent part: "A lien under this section is not subject to the provisions of chapter 6.13 RCW."

These provisions permit enforcement of a condominium association lien through execution and forced sale, despite the existence of the homestead exemption. Ms. Robertson does not dispute Viewcrest's right to conduct the forced sale of her home.

- C. A Condominium Association's Right to Execute on a Lien Against the Homestead Does Not Impact the Homeowner's Right to Possession During the Redemption Period.
  - 1. A Lien Is An Encumbrance Permitting a Forced Sale; It Does Not Confer a Right of Possession to the Foreclosure Sale Purchaser.
    - a. Liens Create No Possessory Interest.

Viewcrest and the superior court relied on the following sentence in RCW 64.34.364(2): "A lien under this section is not subject to the provisions of chapter 6.13 RCW." They reasoned that if a creditor's lien is not subject to chapter 6.13 RCW, then, after the lien is foreclosed, the purchaser at the foreclosure sale has a right to possession that is not subject to the homestead.

The superior court's holding confused the rights of Viewcrest as creditor and its rights as foreclosure sale purchaser. A foreclosure sale purchaser may or may not be the same party that held the lien that forced

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> To qualify for the exemption under RCW 6.13.080(6), a condominium or other homeowner association "must have provided a homeowner with notice that nonpayment of the association's assessment may result in foreclosure of the association lien and that the homestead protection under this chapter shall not apply." RCW 6.13.080(6). RCW 64.34.364(2), by providing that a condominium association's lien is not subject to the provisions of RCW 6.13, eliminated this requirement with respect to condominium association liens. The notice requirement remains as to other homeowner associations.

the sale. In this case, Viewcrest happens to have worn both hats. It held the lien and purchased at the sale. But it brought this eviction action in its capacity as purchaser, not in its capacity as lienholder. *See* CP 55 (chart, reproduced at App. A). The fact that its lien was not subject to the Homestead Act does not speak to the right to possession following foreclosure of the lien.

To determine what it means to say that a lien is not subject to RCW 6.13, one must examine what a lien is and what rights it carries. Specifically, one must ask what a lienholder has with respect to: (1) the right to execute on a debt; and (2) the right to possession of property that is subject to the lien.

"A lien is merely an encumbrance to secure an obligation." As such, it provides a remedy against the land subject to the lien, in the form of a right to foreclose.

Washington's courts have emphasized repeatedly that a lien, as "merely an encumbrance," does not convey a right to possession or other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Byrne v. Ackerlund, 108 Wn.2d 445, 450, 739 P.2d 1138 (1987); accord Swanson v. Graham, 27 Wn.2d 590, 597, 179 P.2d 288 (1947); S.D. Deacon Corp. v. Gaston Bros. Excavating, Inc., 150 Wn. App. 87, 89, 206 P.3d 689 (2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In re Longey, 2008 WL 2074041 at \*4 (Bankr. W.D. Wash. May 14, 2008), quoting State v. Teuscher, 111 Wn.2d 486, 491, 761 P.2d 49 (1988); Fed. Intermediate Credit Bank of Spokane v. O/S Sablefish, 111 Wn.2d 219, 226, 758 P.2d 494 (1988).

property rights. A "lien is not a proprietary interest." "The holder of a lien does not have any right, title or interest in the land the lien encumbers." A lien conveys no "estate or interest in real property" and "confers no general right of property or title upon the holder." It "involves no characteristics of co-ownership." It does not confer a right to possession.8

After the foreclosure sale, the lien is extinguished.<sup>9</sup> Thus, the lien has nothing to do with who has the right to possession after the sale.

A purchaser's right to obtain possession of property that has been foreclosed arises not from the lien, but from the Redemption Act, at RCW 6.23.110, and from a sheriff's deed issued pursuant to RCW 6.21.120.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Longey, 2008 WL 2074041 at \*4, quoting Teuscher, 111 Wn.2d at 491.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Capital Inv. Corp. v. King Cnty., 112 Wn. App. 216, 229, 47 P.3d 161 (2002).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> O/S Sablefish, 111 Wn.2d at 225-26; accord Swanson, 27 Wn.2d at 597; Capital Inv., 112 Wn. App. at 229-30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Byrne, 108 Wn.2d at 450.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Krueger v. Tippett, 155 Wn. App. 216, 225, 229 P.3d 866 (2010), quoting BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1006 (9th ed. 2009). See also Borowski v. BNC Mtg., Inc., 2013 WL 4522253 at \*3 (W.D. Wash. Aug. 27, 2013) (Quiet title statute, RCW 7.28.230(1), "recognizes that a deed of trust creates only a secured lien on real property and does not convey any ownership interest or right to possess the subject property.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See Capital Inv. Corp., 112 Wn. App. at 221, quoting 3 WASHINGTON STATE BAR ASS'N REAL PROPERTY DESKBOOK § 46.15(4) ("At A's foreclosure sale... A bids in for the full amount of his lien and thereby becomes the purchaser of the property... A's lien was extinguished by the foreclosure sale."); accord Damascus Milk Co. v. Morriss, 1 Wn. App. 501, 503-07, 463 P.2d 212 (1969); 18 WASH. PRAC., REAL ESTATE § 19.19 (foreclosing mortgage "was extinguished by the sale."); 27 WASH. PRAC., CREDITORS' REMEDIES – DEBTORS' RELIEF § 3.19 (same).

Because the sale is "subject to redemption, as provided in chapter 6.23 RCW," RCW 6.21.080, the sheriff's deed is not issued until after the redemption period expires. RCW 6.21.120; RCW 6.23.060.

Thus, to state that a lien is not subject to the provisions of RCW 6.13 merely means that the lienholder has the right to foreclose, as an exception to the normal rule of RCW 6.13 that the homestead is exempt from execution. Because a lien does not convey any right to possession to either the lienholder or the foreclosure sale purchaser, excepting a lien from the normal rule against execution does not have any impact on the separate issue of the respective rights of the homeowner and the foreclosure sale purchaser to possession following foreclosure.

b. RCW 6.13.080(6) Confirms that the Exception Granted to Condominium Association Liens Applies to the Right to Execute, Not to the Right to Possession After the Sale.

The text of RCW 6.13.080(6), like the text of RCW 64.34.364(2), demonstrates that the exception granted to condominium associations applies only to the association's ability to conduct a forced sale, not to the respective rights of the homeowner and the foreclosure sale purchaser related to possession after the sale.

RCW 6.13.080 provides that "[t]he homestead exemption is not available *against an execution or forced sale* in satisfaction of judgments

obtained: ... (6) On debts secured by a condominium's or homeowner association's lien." (Emphasis added). It confirms the condominium association's right to "execution or forced sale in satisfaction of judgments obtained" on the debt secured by the lien. It says nothing about the right to possession following the sale.

Because RCW 6.13.080(6) and RCW 64.34.364(2) "relate to the same subject matter," the relationship between condominium association liens and homesteads, "they must be construed together." *Broughton Lumber Co. v. BNSF Ry. Co.*, 174 Wn.2d 619, 626, 278 P.3d 173 (2012); *see also id.* at 627 ("Plain meaning may also be discerned from related statutes which disclose legislative intent about the provision in question.") (internal quotation omitted). Doing so confirms that both statutes address the ability to execute, not the right to possess the property after execution.

c. First Nat'l Bank of Everett v. Tiffany Confirms that the Right to Execute and the Right to Possess are Different Rights, Governed by Different Statutes at Different Times.

The argument that the exceptions to the prohibition against execution under RCW 6.13.080(6) and RCW 64.34.364(2) carry with them a right to possession after the sale ignores the fact that those statutes and RCW 6.23 govern two different sets of rights, governing the relations between two different sets of parties, that are relevant at two different

points in time. The Washington Supreme Court rejected an argument comparable to Viewcrest's in *First Nat'l Bank of Everett v. Tiffany*, 40 Wn.2d 193, 242 P.2d 169 (1952). There, the foreclosure sale purchaser, like Viewcrest, had also been the lienholder. It argued that, because the predecessor to RCW 6.13.080 granted it an exception to the homestead exemption, permitting it to foreclose on its mortgage, it was also entitled to possession during the post-sale redemption period, even though the predecessor to RCW 6.23.110(4) granted the right to possession to the homeowner.

The Supreme Court rejected the creditor-purchaser's attempt to conflate the two provisions. It explained that the two statutes address the rights of the parties at two different times.

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