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

P.3d 4. If the language is clear and unambiguous the Court should not read 

any ambiguity into the statute. 
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Even assummg arguendo an ambiguity, the evolution of the 

pertinent provision from what was set forth in RCW 64.32.200(2) to RCW 

64.34.364(2) is instructive. 

RCW 64.32.200(2) provided in pertinent part the following: 

Such Lien is not subject to the ban against execution or 
force sales of homesteads under RCW 6.13.080 and may be 
foreclosed by suit by the manager or Board of Directors, 
acting on behalf of the apartment owners, in like manner as 
a mortgage of real property. In any such foreclosure the 
apartment owner shall be required to pay a reasonable 
rental for the apartment, if so, provided in the Bylaws, and 
the Plaintiff in such foreclosures shall be entitled to the 
appointment of a receiver to collect the same. The manager 
or Board of Directors, acting on behalf of the apartment 
owners, shall have power, unless prohibited by the 
Declaration, to bid on the apartment at foreclosure sale, and 
to acquire and hold, lease, mortgage, and convey the 
same ... (Emphasis Added). 

Comparing the aforecited language to what is provided for in RCW 

64.34.364(2) clearly demonstrates that the Legislature chose to broaden 

the association rights as related to the Homestead Act (RCW 6.13). The 

former statute cites specifically to RCW 6.13 .080, which only protects the 

homestead exemption from execution and forced sale. Thus, under RCW 

6.13.080 unless exempted, prior to a forced sale, the foreclosing party 

must pay the homestead exemption of $125,000.00 as a condition 

precedent to conducting the sheriffs sale. As the association is exempt 

from the homestead exemption such payment under the former statute was 
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not required. While exempt from the homestead exemption, the right to 

claim a homestead remained under RCW 6.13.010 and RCW 6.13.040. 

Thus, under the former statute RCW 64.32.200(2), the association's lien 

was subject to the owner's homestead, but not to the homestead exemption 

under RCW 6.13.080(6). The Legislature, however, created an apparent 

contradiction in the former statute by further allowing the association 

within such statute to require the apartment owner to pay rent during the 

foreclosure proceeding. The foreclosure proceeding continues through the 

redemption period until the sheriff formally issues its sheriffs deed. Since 

that statute did not prohibit the creation of a homestead, but simply 

exempted the association's lien from the homestead exemption, as 

promulgated, the right to collect rent through the foreclosure proceeding 

was in contradiction with the prohibition against the same under RCW 

6.23.110(4). 

By eliminating the homestead m its entirety, the Legislature 

resolved this contradiction. 

Clearly if the Legislature simply wanted to reiterate that the 

condominium lien was not subject to the homestead exemption, it would 

have retained the language set forth in RCW 64.32.200(2). Instead the 

Legislature broadened the language and clearly stated that the lien was not 

subject to the provisions of chapter RCW 6.13 in its entirety! 
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The legislative intent of Washington's Condominium Act (RCW 

64.34) is also expressed in RCW 64.34.005 which states that the 

Legislature desired to ensure "that a broad range of affordable 

homeownership opportunities continue to be available to the residents of 

the state ... " Allowing a homeowner to remain in the condominium unit 

after a forced sale would be contrary to such intent, as it precludes an 

association from recovering the underlying debt unpaid by the homeowner 

through renting the unit during the redemption period, thereby impeding 

its ability to provide for common expenses, fund repairs and reserves, 

necessary for the functioning and survival of the association. 

B. RCW 6.23.110(4) Requires A Homestead Under Chapter 6.13 

RCW In Order For It To Apply. 

RCW 6.23.030(1) and RCW 6.23.110(4) both refer to the 

homestead as provided for under chapter 6.13 RCW, thereby incorporating 

its provisions. Chapter 6.23 RCW also predates condominium law. Had 

the Legislature intended to simply preclude a condominium homeowner 

from claiming a homestead exemption against an execution or forced sale, 

the amendments to RCW 6.13 .080 were sufficient for this purpose and the 

references to the homestead statute in RCW 64.34.364(2) would be 

superfluous. RCW 6.23 .110(1) specifically gives the purchaser the right 

of possession from the date of sale. Subsection ( 4) prohibits this 
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possession if and only if there is a homestead which can only be created if 

RCW 6.13.010(1) is applicable. Under RCW 64.34.364(2) the entire 

chapter of RCW 6.13 does not apply, therefore no homestead exists and 

the condition precedent necessary for RCW 6.23 .110( 4) to "kick in" is not 

present. 

Ms. Robertson however, suggests a novel argument, specifically 

that the term "homestead" under RCW 6.13.010 is only a definition. She 

cites to Court decisions and notably California v. Summer Del Caribe, Inc. 

821 F. Supp. 574, 579-80 (N.D. CAL. 1993), wherein the Court rejected 

the argument that the Defendant could not be responsible for disposal and 

treatment of solder dross under CERCLA, because CERCLA defined 

"disposal" and "treatment" by reference to the Solid Waste Disposal Act 

(SWDA), and solder dross was not regulated under SWDA. However, the 

"homestead" is not merely a definition as terms such as "disposal" or 

"treatment". RCW 6.13.010 and RCW 6.13 .040 specifically create the 

right to claim a homestead and without which there is no homestead. 

Likewise, without the creation of the homestead exemption under RCW 

6.13 .070, there would be no homestead exemption. The Legislature made 

the determination that to promote the functioning of an association, and 

condominium living, the right to claim a homestead should be eliminated 
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in this type of residence. It did so by stating that the association lien was 

not subject to the provisions of the entire Chapter RCW 6.13. 

It is respectfully suggested that Ms. Robertson is requesting that 

this Court legislate and redefine a clear provision which was promulgated 

by the Washington State Legislature. As the Court is aware, that is not its 

role. Where the statute is clear and unambiguous, the Court should apply 

such language thereby deferring to the Legislature. See Ca/Portland Co. v. 

Leve/One Concrete, LLC 180 Wash.App. 379 -385, 321 P.3d 1261 (2014). 

C. Washington's Legislature Created Exceptions To Homestead 

Rights. 

Article XIX, Section 1 of Washington's Constitution is cited by 

Ms. Robertson. Notably the Article deals with the homestead exemption, 

not the homestead itself. The Legislature did create the homestead 

exemption under RCW 6.13 .070 to ensure that an owner receive a sum of 

money to start over. However, it also created a carve-out to the homestead 

exemption pursuant to RCW 6.13.080. Moreover, the Legislature also 

carved out exceptions to the homestead; specifically an exception to the 

application of the homestead itself exists when a deed of trust is 

foreclosed non-judicially pursuant to chapter 61.24 RCW. RCW 

64.34.364(2) provides the same exception to the application of a 

homestead with respect to the judicial foreclosure of condominium liens. 
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As to the claim that a lien is distinguishable from the right to 

possession after sale, a Deed of Trust is also a lien which requires 

foreclosure before possession. Moreover, at the time of the Sheriff Sale, 

the lien mergers into the Purchaser's Certificate of Purchase, subject only 

to the right of redemption during the redemption period before the 

issuance of the Sheriffs Deed placing the Purchaser into title. Similarly, 

upon the issuance of the Trustee Deed, the Deed of Trust merges into the 

Trustee Deed. 

The lien does not create the right to possession; the govemmg 

statute creates that right. Of critical importance, however, is the effect of 

the foreclosure of the lien upon junior interests. The sale operates to 

extinguish those interests. Without the right to claim a homestead against 

the lien under RCW 6.13.010 and RCW 6.13.040, upon foreclosure of the 

lien, the unit owner, as a junior interest, loses that interest and the right of 

possession post sale. Thus, the argument of distinguishing between the 

foreclosure of the lien and right of possession is nonsensical. 

Ms. Robertson also argues that associations have the right, under 

RCW 64.34.364 to elect to foreclose non-judicially or judicially with the 

right of possession granted immediately upon completion of the trustee's 

sale under RCW 61.24 et seq. However, that argument ignores the fact 

that certain Declarations do not allow for non-judicial foreclosures and 
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furthermore, under RCW 64.34.264(4), any amendment to a Declaration 

which restricts use requires ninety percent (90%) approval of the 

association membership; virtually an unobtainable percentage. Thus, the 

Legislature chose to provide the right for associations to rent post sale 

whether judicially or non-judicially. Again, it is instructive to point out 

that the former RCW 64.32.200(2) granted the association the right to 

obtain rent from an owner during the foreclosure proceeding. Thus, not 

only did the Legislature resolve the apparently contradiction referenced 

hereinabove between such statute and RCW 6.23 .110( 4 ), but further 

allowed associations faced with the inability to conduct a non-judicial 

foreclosure to obtain rent post sheriffs sale, by the elimination of right to 

claim a homestead in a condominium unit. 

D. Ms. Robertson's Argument That If Lenders Cannot Avoid An 

Owner's Right To Possession Post Sheriff's Sale, So Too Should This 

Restriction Apply To Associations, Ignores The Distinction Between A 

Lending Institution And The Association Functioning As A 

Community And Relying Upon The Contribution Of Its Owners In 

Order To Operate. 

Ms. Robertson also argues that lenders which proceed with a 

judicial foreclosure are subject to an owner's right of possession during 

the redemption period under RCW 6.23 .110( 4) and that therefore the same 

-16 



should apply to associations, ignores the fundamental difference between a 

lending institution and the condominium community. While the purpose of 

lenders issuing mortgages is for a return on the investment and profit, an 

association of unit owners is a functioning community relying upon the 

contributions of each of its members. The lien of the association is granted 

so that the association may recoup funds necessary for its functioning and 

survival. 

During the August 27, 2015 hearing, Commissioner Velategui 

emphasized the fact that condominium associations are a unique form of 

homeownership and are dependent upon all unit owners for payment of 

assessments in his colloquy with Defendant's attorney, Mr. Tarshes. CP 

207. Commissioner Velategui asked Mr. Tarshes what would happen if 

100 percent of the owners decided to go through bankruptcy and pointed 

out that "water would be turned off for everybody, power would be turned 

off for everybody," ... "[g]arbage would not be pick up because they've got 

not money," ... "[m]aintenance wouldn't be paid because they've got no 

money." CP 207. He correctly emphasized that the condominium would 

be destroyed if the association could not take possession of the unit 

following a foreclosure sale in order to mitigate its damages and pay for 

its operational expenses. 
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The Legislature, in creating the Condominium Act (RCW 64.34), 

envisioned how to protect the condominium community and avoid 

financial crisis in a depressed economy or in a small condominium 

development when many unit owners may become delinquent in paying 

assessments. By preventing condominium owners from claiming a right to 

a homestead after the condominium association forecloses its assessment 

lien and allowing the association to mitigate its damages, the Legislature 

found a way to effectively and fairly govern this unique form of 

homeownership. 

Ms. Robertson also argues by granting possession to associations 

whether the sale is judicial or nonjudicial, allows for possession and a 

deficiency judgment, the effect of which is too grant greater rights than 

those available to a Lender under the Deed of Trust Act (RCW 61.24). 

However, associations can waive the right to a deficiency judgment in 

return for a reduced redemption period. Moreover an owner may demand 

an upset price, under which a sale will not be confirmed by the Court. 

These protections remain for the owner. Furthermore, as noted above, 

there is a fundamental difference between an association operating as a 

community and a lender seeking profit. 

E. RCW 64.34.364 Also Governs Rights of Creditors And Debtors 

Following An Execution and Forced Sale. 
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Defendant argues that the lien does not grant a creditor the right of 

possession after a foreclosure sale and that RCW 6.23.110 governs the 

rights of creditors and debtors following execution and forced sale. It is 

not the lien but the statute, RCW 64.34.364, that creates that right of 

possession. As noted above all mortgages, including Deeds of Trust are 

liens. Possessory rights post foreclosure are granted as noted by the terms 

of the governing statute. In this regard, RCW 64.34.364 provides a 

mechanism under which a condominium association may foreclose upon 

its lien and obtain a right of possession following execution and forced 

sale, by eliminating the right to claim a homestead in condominiums. As 

discussed above, the foreclosure of the lien extinguishes the owner's 

junior interest and right of possession due to the owner being unable to 

claim a right of homestead against the lien. 

Ms. Robertson relies upon First Nat 'l Bank v. Tiffany 40 Wash. 2d 

193, 242 P.2d 169 (1952), which was decided by this State's Supreme 

Court in 1952, long before the 1989 enactment of the Condominium Act 

and the provisions upon which Viewcrest relies to support its position that 

a unit owner may not claim a right to a homestead following execution 

and forced sale. The decision rendered therein has no application to the 

plain language of a statute promulgated 3 7 years after the fact. 
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In this regard it is important to note that the Tiffany Court 

discussed the application and effect of the homestead exemption. It was 

without question that the property foreclosed was subject to a homestead 

under the former statute now codified as RCW 6.13.010. Since the 

homestead applied, right of possession as granted under the former statute 

now codified as RCW 6.23.110(4) applied. As noted above, the 

Legislature chose to revise RCW 64.32.200(2) to avoid its apparently 

contradiction with RCW 6.23.110(4) and broaden the rights granted to the 

association by eliminating the entire chapter RCW 6.13, and the right to 

claim a homestead created therein under RCW 6.13.010. 

In support of her argument, Ms. Robertson further cites to the desk 

reference book 28 WASH. PRAC., Creditors' Remedies-Debtors' Relief§ 

7.22. While that desk reference carries no controlling precedent, it is 

further worthy to note that the drafter ignored the rights granted to the 

Association under the former RCW 64.32.200(2) with the right to demand 

rent during the pendency of the foreclosure proceeding, and further 

ignored the fundamental revision in RCW 64.34.364(2), whereby the 

application of the provisions of the entire chapter RCW 6.13 and the right 

to claim a homestead created therein to the condominium lien were 

eliminated. Thus, arguably when originally drafted, the drafter of this 

section was fundamentally wrong and failed to address the apparent 
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contradiction between RCW 64.32.200(2) and RCW 6.23.110(4). That 

drafter clearly failed to address the elimination of the right to claim a 

homestead as set forth in RCW 64.34.364(2). 

F. The Decision Of The Trial Court To Grant The Plaintiffs 

Motion For Writ Of Assistance Failed To Demonstrate Any Reliance 

Upon The Declaration Of James Strichartz. 

Ms. Robertson argues that the Declaration of James Strichartz, CP 

83-84, should have been stricken from the Court record. It is respectfully 

argued that such an argument is a red herring due to the fact that the 

Court's ruling did not specifically reflect any reliance upon that 

Declaration. Indeed, in the Court's ruling, Judge Galvan specifically relied 

upon the reasoning set forth in Judge Prochnau's decision in the decision 

of Redwood High Point v. Blumenthal. RP 32 and CP 76-78. Thus, even 

assuming arguendo that the Declaration should have been struck, the 

failure to do so is absolutely harmless error. 

It is respectfully argued, however, that the Declaration of James 

Strichartz, CP 83-84, was indeed admissible. Ms. Robertson's citations of 

authorities to the contrary involve circumstances where the declaration or 

statement sought to be admitted was in contradiction to the clear and

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